
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No.
18 U.S.C. j 1349
18 U.S.C. j 1347
18 U.S.C. j 371
42 U.S.C. j 1320a-7b(b)(2)(A)
18 U.S.C. j 1956(h)
18 U.S.C. j 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)
18 U.S.C. j 981(a)(1)(C)
18 U.S.C. j 982(a)(1)
18 U.S.C. j 982(a)(7)

UNITED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS.

JOH N M AM ONE,
JOH N ANTH ONY M AM ONE, and
JOSEPH M AM ONE,

Defendants.

INDICTM ENT

The Grand Jury charges that:

GENER AL ALLEGATIONS

At al1 times material to this Indictment:

The M edicare Prozram

The Medicare Progrnm (GGMedicare'') was a federally funded progrnm that provided

free or below-cost health care benefits to certain individuals, primarily the elderly, blind, and

disabled. The benefits available tmder M edicare were governed by federal statm es and regulations.

The United States Department of Health and Hllman Selwices (11HHS''), through its agency, the

Centers for Medicareand Medicaid Services (&ûCMS''), oversaw and administered Medicare.
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Individuals who received benefits under M edicare were commonly referred to as M edicare

Glbeneficiaries.''

M edicare was a çlhealth care benefit progrnmp'' as defined by Title 18, United States

Code, Section 24(b), arld a ç&Federal health care progrnmy'' as defmed by Title 42, United States

Code, Section 1320a-7b(t).

3. M edicare was subdivided im o multiple progrnm t&parts.'' M edicare Pal4 A covered

health services provided by hospitals, sldlled nttrsing facilities, hospices, and home health

agencies. M edicare PM  B covered physician services and outpatient care, including an

individual's access to durable medical equipment (;&DME''), such as orthotic devices and

wheeldhairs.

Durable M edical Equipm ent

4. Orthotic devices were a type of DM E that included rigid and semi-rigid devices,

such as knee braces, back braces, shoulder braces, nnkle braces, and m ist braces.

DM E suppliers, physicians, and other health care providers that provided services

to M edicare beneficiaries were referred to as M edicare lGproviders.'' To participate in M edicare,

providers were required to submit an application, CM S Fonn 8555, which contained a certification

that stated:

I agree to abide by the M edicare laws, regulations and progrnm instructions that
apply to me or to the organization listed in Section IB of this application. The
M edicare laws, regulations, and progrnm instructions are available through the fee-
for-service contractor. I tmderstand that payment of a claim by M edicare is
conditioned upon the claim and the tmderlying transaction complying with such
laws, regulations and progrnm instnzctionsl,q including, but not limited to, the
Federal Anti-M ckback Statme, 42 U.S.C. section 1320a-7b(b)(.q

I will not knowingly present or cause to be presented a false or fraudulent claim for
payment by M edicare, and will not submit claims with deliberate ignorance or
reckless disregard of their truth or falsity.
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6. CM S Form 8555 also required applicants to disclose to M edicare any individual or

organization with an ownership interest, partnersllip interest, or managing control of a DM E

supplier. This included: (i) all individuals and orgnnizations with five percent or more of an

ownership stake, either direct or indirect, in the DME supplier; (ii) all individuals or organizations

with a partnership interest in the DME supplier, regardless of the partner's percentage of

ownership; (iii) a11 orgnnizations with Glmanaging control'' of the DME supplier', and (iv) a11

Eûm anaging employees.''

CM S Form 8555 desned an o' rganization with Glmanaging control'' of a DME

supplier as çtgaqny organization that exercises operational or managerial control'' over the DME

1G '' f the DME supplier. CMS Form 8555 definedsupplier, or conducts the day-to-day operations o

Etmanaging employee'' as &Ga general manager, business manager, administratqr, director, or other

individual who exercises operational or m anagerial control over, or who directly or indirectly

conducts the day-to-day operations'' of the DM E supplier, lteither tmder contract or through some

other arrangement, whether or not the individual is a W -2 employee'' of the DM E supplier.

CMS Form 8555 also required the disclosure of GtAdverse Legal Xctions'' against'

individuals or orgnnizations with an ownership interest, pm nership interest, or managing conkol

of a DM E supplier. CM S Form  8555 defm ed &W dverse Legal Actions'' as, nmong other things,

any federal or state felony conviction within the previous ten years, and any felony or misdemeanor

conviction, tmder federal or state law, relating to the unlawftzl manufacttlre, distdbution,

prescription, or dispensing of a controlled substance.

9. If M edicare approved a provider's application, M edicare assigned the provider a

M edicare Gtprovider number.'' A health care provider with a M edicare provider nttmber cpuld file

claims with M edicare to obtain reimbtlrsement for serdces rendered to benefciaries.
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10. Enrolled M edicare providers agreed to abide by the policies, procedures, rules, and

regulations governing reimblzrsement. To receive Medicare funds, enrolled providers were

required to abide by the Federâl Anti-Kickback Statm e and other laws and regulations. Providers

were given access to M edicare mmmals and services bulletins describing billing procedures, rules,

and regulations.

11. M edicare reimbursed DM E companies and other health care providers for items

and selwices rendeied to beneficiaries. To receive paym ent from M edicare, providers submitted

or caused the submission of claims to Medicare electronically, either directly or through a billing

company.

12.

things, the beneficiary's nam e Mnd tmique M edicare identification nllm ber, the DM E provided to

A M edicare claim for DM E reimbursement was requized to set forth, among other

the beneficiary, the date the DM E was provided, the cost of the DM E, and the name and llnique

physician identification nllmber of the physician who prescribed or ordered the equipment.

A claim for DM E submitted to Medicare qualified for reimbursement only if it was

medically necessary for the treatment of the beneficiary's illness or injury and prescribed by a

licensed medical professional.

14. Telem edicine provided a

Telem edicine

means of colmecting patients to doctors by using

telecommlmications teclmology, such as the internet or telephone, to interact with a patient.

Telem edicine com pnnies provided telem edicine serdces, or telehealth services, to

individuals by hiring doctors or other health care providers. Telem edicine companies typically

paid doctors a fee to conduct consultations with patients. In order to generate revenue,

4
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telemedicine compnnies typically either billed instlrance or received payment from patients who

utilized the services of the telem edicine company.

M edicare PM  B covered expenses for specific te1ehea1th services if certain

rçquirements were met. These requirements included that (a) the beneficiary was located in a rural

or health professional shortage area; (b) selwices were delivered via an interactive audio and video

telecommlmications system; and (c) the beneficiary was in a practitioner's office or a specified

medical facility- not at a beneficiary's home---during the telehealth service with a remote
?

practitioner. In or around M azch 2020, in response to the COVlD-19 pandemic, some of these

requirements were nmended temporarily to, nmong other things, cover telehealth services for

certain office and hospital visits, even if the beneficiaty was not located in a rural area or a health

professional shortage area and even if the telehealth selwices were ftumished to beneficiaries in

their home.

The Defendants and Related Entities

17. Alpha Medical Supply, LLC (1GALPHA''), a limited liability company formed tmder

the laws of Florida, w as a mediçal supply com pany enrolled with M edicare that purportedly

provided DM E to individuals, including M edicare beneficiaries. ALPHA had a principal plâce of

business in èalm Beach Cotmty, and held an account at Wells Fargo Bnnk (ç&We11s Fargo'') ending

in x9651 (the GtAlpha W ells Fargo Accounf') and an accotmt at JP Morgan Chase Bnnk (CC.1PMC''I

ending in x5068 (the GtAlpha JPMC Accotmf).
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18. Horizon Medical Supply (:1H(jRlZON''), a limited liability company formed tmder

the laws of Florida, was a medical supply company enrolled with M edicare that purpodedly

provided DM E to individuals, including M edicaze' beneficiaries. HORIZON had a principal place

of business in Palm Beach Cotmty, and held an account at Bnnk of America (G%OA'') ending in

x4079 (the iûl-lorizon Accounf).

19. Gulf Marketing Group, Inc. (IGGULF MARKETING''), a corporation formed lmder

the laws of Florida, was purportedly a marketing company with a principal place of business in

Broward Cotmty. GULF MARKETFNG held two accotmts at BOA: (a) the first ending in x9169

tiûGulf Marketing Accotmt 1''); and (b) the second ending in x0526 (Gltlulf Marketing Accotmt 2'').

Gulf Holdings, LLC (EIGULF HOLDINGS'') was a limited liability company
'J .

formed under the laws of Florida, with its pdncipal place of business in Broward Cotmty. GULF

HOLDINGS held two accounts at W ells Fargo: (a) the first ending in x1924 (1;Gulf floldings

Account 14'),. and (b) and the second ending in x3620 (<EGu1f Holdings Account 2'').

21. Defendant JOHN M AM ONE, a resident of Palm Beach County, Florida, was a

beneficial owner of ALPHA, HORIZON, GULF MARKETING, and GULF HOLDINGS, and a

signatory on the Alpha W ells Fargo Account and Alpha JPM C Accotmt. JOHN M AM ONE was

also a signatory on an accotmt at Wells Fargo ending in x4633 (the Gçlolm Mamone Accounf).

22. Defendant JOHN ANTHONY M AM ONE, a resident of Broward Cotmty,

Florida, was a benescial owner of ALPHA and HORIZON, an officer of GULF M ARKETING

and GULF HOLDINGS, and a signatory on the Horizon Account, Gulf M arketing Account 1, Gulf

M arketing Account 2, and Gulf Holdings Accotmt.

23. Defendant JOSEPH M AM ONE, a resident of Broward Cotmty, Florida, was an

owner, manager, and officrr of HORIZON and a signatory on the Horizon Accotmt.
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24. Company 1 was a limited liability company fonned tmder the laws of Florida, with

a plincipal place of business in Broward Cotmty, Florida. Company 1 held an accotmt at JPM C

ending in x4131 (the çtcompany 1 Accotmf').

Company 2 was a limited liability company formed tmder the laws of Florida, with

aprincipalplace of business in Palm Beach County; Florida. Com pany 2 held an account at Branch

Banking and Tnzst Company (:%B&T'') ending in x7724 (the Etcompany 2 Accounf).

COUNT 1
Conspiracy to Com m it H ealth Care Fraud and W ire Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1349)

The General Allegations section of this Indictment is re-alleged and incorporated

by reference as though fully set forth herein.

From in or arotmd Janualy 2019, and continuing through in or azound September
N

2020, in Palm Beach County, in the Southem District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

JOlo  M AM ONE
zo>  AxoTlloxv MAMV E, and

zo sEpH M AM ONE,

did lcnowingly and willfully, that is, with the intent to further the objects of the conspiracy,

combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with each other, and others known and llnknown to the

Grand Jury, to commit offenses against the United States, that is:

to knowingly mld willfully execute a scheme and artifice to defraud a health

care benefit progrnm affecting commerce, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section

24(b), that is, Medicare, and to obtain, by means of materially false and gaudulent pretenses,
r

representations, and prom ises, m oney and property owned by, and under the custody and control

of, said health care benefit program, in connection with the delivery of and payment for health care

benefits, items, and services, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347,' and
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b. to knowingly, and with the intent to defraud, devise, and intend to devise, a

scheme and artifice to defraud, and for obtairling money and property by means of materially false

and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, knowing the pretenses, representations,

and promises were false and gaudulent when made, and for the purpose of executing the scheme

and artifice, did knowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire commtmication

in interstate and foreign commerce, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

Purpose of the Conspiracy

3. It was a purpose of the conspiracy for the defendants and their co-conspirators to

lmlawfully enrich themselves by, nmong other tEngs: (a) offering, paying, and causing the

payment of lcickbacks and bribes to patient recruiters in exchange for the referral of M edicare

benefciaries and doctors' orders for DM E to AT,PHA and HORIZON; (b) offering, paying, and

causing the payment of ldckbacks and bribes to telemedicine companies in exchange for ordering

and arrmlging for the ordering of DME ?or Medicare beneficiaries, without regard to the medical

necessity of the prescribed DM E or whether the DME was eligible for M edicare reimbursement;

(c) submi.tting and causing the submission, via interstate wire commllnication, of false and

âaudulent claims to M edicare through ALPHA and HORIZON for DME that was not medically

necessary and not eligible for Medicare reimbursement; (d) concealing and causing the

concealment of false and fraudulent claims to Medicare; and (e) diverting fraud proceeds for their

personal use and benefit, the use and benetit of others, and to further the fraud.
i
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M anner and M eans of the Conspiracv

The m anner and m eans by which the defendants and their co-conspirators sought to

accomplish the objects and ptlpose of the conspiracy included, nmong other tllings:

4. JOHN M AM ONE, JOH N ANTH ONY M AM ONE, JO SEPH M AM ONE, and

other co-conspirators acquired beneficial ownership interests in DM E suppliers, including ALPHA

and HOW ZON .

5. JOHN M AM UNE and other co-conspirators recnzited and paid individuals to

sel've as nominee owners of DM E suppliers, including ALPHA, in order to conceal the identities

of the beneficial owners of the DM E suppliers.

JOHN M AM ONE, JOH N ANTHON Y M AM ONE, JO SEPH  M AM OM , and

other co-conspirators, tllrough and on behalf of ALPHA and HORIZON, paid and caused to be

paid ldckbacks and bribes to patient recruiters, through Company 1 and Company 2 among others,

in exchange for referring beneficiaries and doctors' orders for DM E to ALPHA and HORIZON.

JOHN M AM ONE, JOIIN ANTHO NY M AM ONE, JO SEPH  M AM ONE, and

other co-conspirators, through and on behalf of ALPHA and HORIZON, negotiated the ldckback

and bribe azrangements, and disguised the true nature and source of these ldckbacks and bribes as

being for other purported services, such as GEm arketing'' or çGcall center managem ent'' services, and

further concealing such payments by entering into sham contracts.

8. JOIIN M AM ONE, JOH N ANTH ONY M AM ONE, JO SEPH M AM ONE, and

other co-conspirators, through and on behalf of ALPHA and HORIZON, offered and paid, and

caused to be paid, illegal ldckbacks and bribes to telem edicine com panies in exchange for doctors'

orders for DNIE that was not medically necessary and not eligible for M edicare reimbtlrsem ent.

These doctors' orders were written by doctors contracted with the telem edicine compnnies who
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did not have a pre-existing doctor-patient relationship with the beneficiaries, were not treating the

benetkiaries, did not conduct a physical exnmination, and did not cpnduct a proper telemedicine

v1S1t.

JOH N M AM ONE, JOHN ANTHONY M AM ONE, JOSEPH  G M ONE, and

other co-conspirators subm itted, and caused the subm ission of, false and fraudulent claim s to

M edicare, through the use of interstate wire commllnications, on behalf of 'ALPHA and

HORJZON,. totaling approxhnately $7,445,418, for DME that was not medically necessary atlct

not eligible for reimbursement. As a result of these false and fraudulent claims, ALPHA and
k

HORJZON received payment i.n the approximate amount of $3,805,073.

JOIIN M AM ONE, JOIIN ANTH ONY M AM ONE, JOSEPH M AM ONE, and

other co-conspirators used the fraud proceeds to benefit themselves and others, and So further the

fraud.

A11 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349.

COUNTS 2-5
H ealth Care Fraud

(18 U.S.C. j 1347)

The General Allegations section of this Indictment is re-alleged and incorporated

by reference as though fully set forth herein.

2. From in or arolm d January 2019, and continuing through in or around September

2020, in Palm Beach County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

zo>  M AM ONE,
JosEpH M AM ONE, and

JOH N ANTHONY M AM ONE,

in cozm ection with the delively of and paym ent for health care benefhs, items, and services, did

knowingly and w illfully execute, and attempt to execute, a schem e and artifice to defraud a health

10
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care benefit program affecting commerce, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section

2409, that is, Medicare, and to obtain by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,

representations, and promises, money and property owned by, and under the custody and contzol

of, said healthcare benefit progrnm .

Purpose of the Schem e and Artifice

3. It was a purpose of the scheme and artifice for the defendants and their accomplices

to unlawfully enzich themselves by, among other things: (a) offering, paying, and causing the

payment of kickbacks and bdbes in exchange for the refen'al of M edicare beneficiadçs and

doctors' orders for DME to M PHA and HORIZON; (b) paying and causing the payment of

lcickbacks and bribes to telemedicine companies in exchange for ordering and arranging for the

ordering of DME for M edicare beneficiaries, without regard to the medical necessity of the

prescdbed DME or whether the DME was eligible for Medicare reimbursement; (c) submitling

and causing the submission of false and fraudulent claims to M edicare tllrough ALPHA and

HORIZON for DM E that was not medically necessary and not eligible for M edicare

reimbursement; (d) concealing and causing the concealment of false and fraudulent claims to

Medicare; and (e) diverting fraud proceeds for their personal use and benefit, the use and benefk

of others, and to further the fraud.

The Schem e and Artifice

The M anner and M eans section of Cotmt 1 of this Indidment is re-alleged and

incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein as a description of the scheme and

artifice.
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Acts in Execution or Attem pted Execution
of the Schem e and Artifice

On or about the dates set forth as to each count below, in Palm Beach Cotmty, in

the Southem District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants did knowingly and willfully

execute, and attempt to execute, the above-described scheme and artifice to deâaud a health care

benefitprogram, in that the defendants submitted and caused the submission of false and fraudulent

claims, seelcing the identified dollar nmolmts, and representing that such benefits, items, and

services were m edically necessary and eligible for M edicare reim btlrsem ent:

TotalA
pprox. yw st orthosis in Approx

.Count Beneficiary Billing Entity Date of Cl
aim ; Claim  No. Am ountService Bill

ed

unee orthosis;D
.L. HORIZON 10/1/2019 $4,820119276783797001

Ankle foot orthosis;3 S
.R. ALPHA 4/16/2020 $1,000120107737047000

Ankle foot orthosis;
. 4 B.T. ALPHA 5/1 1/2020 $4,100120140800637001

;

. Lumbar-sacral
5 L.J. HORIZON 5/26/2020 orthosis; $4,870

120150800728000

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1347 and 2.

COUNT 6
Conspiracy to Defraud the United Statès and to Pay H eaIth Care Kickbacks

(18 U.S.C. j 371)

The General Allegations section of tllis Indictm ent is re-alleged and incorporated

by reference as though f'ully set forth herein.

2. From in or around January 2019, and continuing tluough in or arotm d September

2020, in Palm Beach Cotmty, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

12
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JOHN M AM ON ,E
JOH N ANTH ONY M AM ONE, and

zosEpH M AM ONE,

did knowingly and willfully, that is,with the intent to f'urther the objects of the conspiracy,

combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with each other, and with others lcnown and llnknown

to the Grand Jury, to defraud the United States by impaidng, impeding, obstructing, and defeating

through deceitful and dishonest means, the lawful government functions of I-IHS and CM S in their

administration and oversight of M edicare; and to commit an offense against the United States, that

is, to violate Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b)(2)(A), by knowingly and willfully

offering and paying remlmeration, including kickbacks and bribes, directly and indirectly, ove/ly

and covertly, in cash and in ldnd, to a person to induce such person to refer an individual to a

person for the furnishing and anu ging for the farnishing of an item  and service for which paym ent

may be made in whole and in pal't by a Federal health care program, that is, M edicare.

Purpose of the Conspiracv

It was a pup ose of the conspiracy for the defendants and their co-conspirators to

uhlawfully emich themselves by, among other things: (a) falsifying and causing the falsification

of M edicare enrollment forms to conceal the true ownership of, and managing control over,
. 

'

ALPHA and HORIZON; (b) offering, paying, and causing the payment of ldckbacks and bribes in

exchange for the refen'al of M edicare beneficiaries and doctors' orders for DM E to ALPHA and

HORIZON; (c) offering, paying, and causing the payment of lcickbacks and bribes to telemedicine

companies in exchange for ordering and arranging for the ordering of DM E for M edicare

beneficiaries; (d) submitting and causing the submission of claims to Medicare through AITHA

and HORIZON for DM E that was obtained through the payment of kickbacks and bribes for the

referral of Medicare beneficiaries and doctors' orders', (e) concealing and causing the concealment

13
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of claims to M edicare that were obtained through the payment of ldckbacks and bribes for the

referral of beneficiaries and doctors' orders for DME; and (9 diverting proceeds 9om the claims

for their personal use and benefit, the use and benefit of others, and to further the ldckback

conspiracy.

M anner and M eans of the Conspiracv

The m nnner and m eans by which the defendants and their co-conspirators sought to

jaaccomplish the objects and purpose of the conspiracy included, among other things, t e following:

JOHN M AMONE, JQHN ANTHONY MAM ONE, and JOSEPH M AM ONE

acquired beneficial ownership interests in M PHA and HORIZON.

JOSEPH M AM ONE falsified and caused the falsification of M edicare erlrollment

fonns, bank records, corporate records, and other doctlments in order to conceal the identities of

the true owner and m anager of HORIZON, including JOH N M AM ONE and JOH N ANTHON Y
A

M AM ONE.

JOHN M AM ONE, JOHN ANTH OW  M AM ONE, and JOSEPH M AM ONE

recruited individuals to serve as the nominee owners of ALPHA in order to conceal their beneficial

ownerslzip interest and control of ALPHA.

JOHN M AM ONE, JOH N ANTH ONY M V ONE, JO SEPH M AM ONE, and

other co-conspirators, tltrough and on behalf of ALPHA and HORIZON, paid and caused to be

paid ldckbacks and bribes to patient recruiters, through Company 1 and Company 2 among others,

in exchange for refening M edicare beneficiaries and doctors' orders for braces to ALPHA and

HORIZON .

8.

other co-conspirators, on behalf of ALPHA and HORIZON , negotiated the ldckback and bribe

JOH N M AM ONE, JO HN ANTH OW  M AM ONE, JOSEPH M AM ONE, and

14
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arrangements, anci disguised the nature and sotu'ce of these kickbacks and bribes as being for other

services, such as Gçmarketing'' services, mld further concealing such payments by entering into

sham contrads.

JOHN MAMONE, JOHN M THONY MAM ONE, JOSEPH MAM ONE, and

other co-conspirators subrnitted, and caused the subm ission of, claims to M edicare for DM E on

behalf of ALPHA, totaling approximately $2,951,078. As a result of these claims, ALPHA

received payment in the approximate amoutlt of $ 1,575,975.

10. JOH N M AM ONE, JOH N ANTHON Y M AM ONE, JO SEPH  M AM ONE, and

other co-conspirators submitted, and caused the submission of, claims to M edicaze for DME on

behalf of HORIZON, totaling approkimately $4,494,340. As a result of the claims, HORJZON

received payment in the approximate nmotmt of $2,289,098.

JOH N M AM ONE, JOHN ANTHONY M AM ONE, JO SEPH  M AM ONE, and

other co-conspirators used the proceeds received from M edicare to benefk themselves and others,

and to further the conspiracy.

Overt Acts

In furtherance of the conspiracy, and to accomplish its objects and purpose, at lèast one co-

conspirator committed and caused to be committed, in the Southem District of Florida, at least one

of the following overt acts, nm ong others:

Oh or about July 24, 2019, JOSEPH M AM ONE authorized an individual to

execute a CM S Form  8555, falsely certifying that, as of Jtme 17, 2019, JO SEPH M AM ONE was

the sole owner and person with m anaging control of HOW ZON , when in fact JOHN M AM ONE

and JOITN ANTHONY M AM ONE were also beneficial owners and participated in m anaging

HORIZON .

15

Case 9:21-cr-80139-AMC *SEALED*   Document 3   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/09/2021   Page
15 of 30



2. On or about October 14, 2019, JOHN M AM ONE, JOHN ANTHONY

M AM ONE, and JOSEPH M AM ONE authorized an individual to execpte a CM S Form  8555,

falsely certifying that, as of September 18, 2019, that individual was the sole owner and person

with m anaging control of M PHA, when in fact JOH N M AM O NE, JOIIN ANTHON Y

M AM ONE, and JOSEPH M AM ONE were also beneficial owners and participated in managing

ALPHA .

3. On or about November 5, 2019, JOHN M AM ONE, JOIIN M THONY

M AM ONE, and JOSEPH M AM ONE caused M PHA to execute a Business Processing and

Outsom cing Agreementbetween ALPHA and Company 1, which falsely represented that

Company 1 would provide Elbusiness, processing and outsotlrcing'' services, am ong other services,

to ALPHA.

4. On or about N ovember 5, 2019, JOSEPH M AM ONE executed a Business

Processing and Outsourcing Agreem ent between HORIZON and Company 1, which falsely

represented that Company 1 w ould provide Gtbusiness, processing and outsotlrcing'' services,

among other selwices, to HORIZON.

5. On or about November 8, 2019, JOHN M AM ONE transferred and caused to be

transferred approximately $15,000, via wire transfer, âom the Alpha W ells Fargo Accotmt to the

Company 1 Accotmt.

6. On or about November 15, 2019, JOSEPH M AM ONE and JOHN ANTHONY

M AM ONE transferred and caused to be transfen'ed approximately $30,000, via wire transfer,

from the Horizon Account to the Company 1 Account.

Onor aboutlanuary 3, 2020, JOH N M AM ONE, JOHN ANTH ONY M AM ONE,

and JOSEPH M AM ONE caused M pl-tAto èxecute a M anagement Servicès Agreementbetween

16
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ALPHA and Company 2, wllich falsely represented that Company 2 would provide çûm arketing

and brand awareness'' and çllogistical management'' services, among other services, to ALPHA.

This agreement also falsely represented that the compensation Gçshall not in any way be related to

the value, volume, or adjudication of referrals between the parties.''

8. On or about January 3, 2020, JOSEPH M AM ONE executed a M anagement

Services Agreement between HOY ZON and Company 2, which falsely represented that Company

2 would provide GGmarketing and brand awareness'' and EGlogistical management'' services, nmong

other services, to HOIUZON. This agreement also falsely represented that the compensation çtshall

not in any way be related to tie value, volume, or adjudication of refenuls between the parties.''

On or about January 3, 2020, JOSEPH M AM ONE and JOIIN ANTHONY

M AM ONE transferred and caused to be transferred approximately $15,000, via wire trrnsfer,

from the Horizon Account to the Company 2 Accotmt.

10. On or about February 14, 2020, JOI'IN M AM ONE transferred and caused to be

transfen'ed approximately $15,000, via wire transfer, from the M pha W ells Fargo Account to the

Company 2 Accotmt.

On or aboutM arch 19,2020, JOHN M AM ONE,JOHN ANTHONY M AM ONE,

and JOSEPH M AM ONE authorized an individual to execute a CM S Form 8555, falsely

certifying that, as of Februaty 10, 2020, that individual was the sole owner and person with

managing control of M PHA, when in fact JOHN M AM ONE, JOHN ANTHONY M AM ONE,

and JOSEPH M AM ONE were also beneficial owners and participated in m anaging ALPHA .

On or about April 23, 2020, JOSEPH M AM ONE transfen'ed appioximately

$150,000, via wire transfer, 9om the Holizon Accotmt to the Gulf M arketing Accotmt 2.
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13. On or àbout M ay 29, 2020, JOHN M AM ONE transferred approximately

$160,000, via wire transfer, from the Alpha W ells Fargo Accotmt to the Gplf M arketing Accotmt

Al1 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

COUNTS 7-10
Payment of Kickbacks in Connectiûn with a Federal HeaIth Care Program

(42 U.S.C. j 1320a-7b(b)(2)(A))

The General Allegations section of this Indictment is re-alleged and incorporated

by reference as though fully set forth herein.

On or about the dates enllmerated below, in Palm Beach Cotmty, in the Southern

District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

z o HN M  A M  o ,NE
JOHx ANTH ONY m M ONE, and

zosEpu M AM ONE,

did knowingly and willfully offer and pay remuneration, that is, ldckbacks and bribes, directly and

indirectly, overtly and covertly, in cash and in ldnd, as set forth below, to a person, to induce such

person to refer an individual to a person for the furnislling and arranging for the furnishing of an

item and service for which payment may be made in whole and in part under a Federal health care

program, that is, M edicare'.

Approx. Date Approx. Am t.
Count of K ickback of Kickback Description of Kickback Paym ent

Pa m ent Pa m ent
W ire transfer f'rom the Alpha W ells Fargo7 11/8/2019 $15

,000 A
ccolmt to the Com  an 1 Accotmt.
W ire transfer from the Horizon Accotmt8 11/15/2019 $30

,000 t
o the Com an 1 Account.
W ire transfer f'rom the Horizon Account9 1/3/2020 $15

,000 t
o the Com an 2 Account.

18
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Approx. Date Approx. Amt. '
Count of Kickbâck of K ickback Description of K ickback Paym ent

Pa m ent Pa m ent
W ire t'ransfer from the Alpha W ells Fargo10 2/14/2020 $15

,000 Accotmt to the Com an 2 Account.

In violation of Title 42, Urlited States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b)(2)(A) and Title 18,

United States Code, Section 2.

COUNT 11
Conspiracy to Com m it M oney Laundering

(18 U.S.C. j 1956(h))

The General Allegations section of this Indictment is re-alleged and incop orated

by reference as thoujh fully set forth herein.

2. From in or arotmd Janualy 2019, and continuing through in or arotmd September

2020, in Pqlm Beach Cotmty, in the Southem District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

JOHN M AM ON ,E
JOH N ANTH ONY M AM ONE, and

JosEl,ll m M ONE,

did lcnowingly and voltmtarily combine, conspire, and agree with each other, and with others

known and llnknown to the Grand Jury, to conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate and

foreign commerce, which transaction involved the proceeds of specified llnlawful activity,

knowing that the property involved in the financial transaction represented the proceeds of some

form of llnlawful activity, and knowing that the transaction was designed in whole or in part to

conceal and disguise the nature, location, souzce, ownership, and control of the proceeds of

specified lmlawf'ul activity, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(B)(i).

It is further alleged that the specified tmlawf'ul activity is conspiracy to comm it health care

gaud mld wire fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349; health care gaud,

in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347; and payment of kickbacks in connection

19
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with a Federal health care program,in violation of Title 42, United States Code, 1320a-

7b(b)(2)(A).

A11 in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h).

COIJNTS 12-15
M oney Laundering

(18 U.S.C. j 1956(a)(1)(B)(i))

The General Allegations section of this Indictment is realleged and incorporated

by reference as if fully set forth herein.

2. On or about the dates set forth as to each count below, in Palm Beach County, in

the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants?

JOHN M AM ON ,E
zoux ANTH ONY M AM ONE, and

JpsEpll MxMONE,

did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate and

foreign commerce, which financial transaction involved the proceeds of 'specified tmlawful

activity, knowing that the property involved in the fmancial transaction represented the proceeds

of some form of 'lnlawful activity, and knowing that the transaction was designed in whole and in

part to conceal and disglzise the nature, location, solzrce, ownersllip, and cpntrol of the proùeeds of.

specified tmlawful activity, as set forth below:

Count Defendantts) ' Approx. Date Description of
of Transaction Financial Transaction

JO SEPH  .
fer of $150 00ù from theM AM ONE, W ire trans ,

12 JOHN 4/23/2020 Horizon Accotmt to the Gulf M arketing
ANTH ONY Accotmt 2
WDVHONE
JOHN

M AM ONE, W ire transfer of $160,000 9om the
13 JOHN 5/29/2020 Alpha W ells Fargo Account to the Gulf

ANTH ONY M arketing Accotmt 2
M AM ONE

20
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Count Defendantts) Approx. Date Description of
of Transaction Financial Transaction

JOHN
M AM ONE, W ire transfer of $107,000 from the Gulf

14 JOHN 5/29/2020 M arketing Accotmt 2 to the Gulf
ANTH OINY Holdings Accotmt 1

h

M AM ONE
JOHN

M AM OM J, W ire transfer of $107,000 from Gulf
15 JOHN 5/29/2020 Holdings Accotmt 1 to Gulf Holdings

ANTH ON Y A ccotmt 2
M xv oxE

It is further alleged that the specified tmlawf'ul activity is conspiracy to commit health care

fraud and wire fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349; health care fraud,

in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347,' and payment of kickbacks in connection

with a Federal health care program , in violation of Title 42, United States 'Code, 1320a-

7b(b)(2)(A).

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2.

FORFEITURE AT,LEGATIONS

The allegations of lhislndictment are re-alleged and by this reference fully

incop orated herein for the purpose of alleging forfeiture to the United States of ceMain property

in which the defendant so convicted has an interest.

Upon conviction of a conspiracy to commit a violation of Title 18, United States

C ode, Section 1343, as alleged in this Indictment, the defendant so convicted shall forfeit to the

United States any property, real or personal, which constitm es or is derived from  proceeds

traceable to such offense, p'ursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 98 1(a)(1)(C).

3. Upon conviction of a violation, or conspiracy to commit a violation, of Title 18,

United States Code, Section 1347, or Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b, as alleged
q '

in this Indictment, the defendant so convicted shall forfeit to the Urlited States any property, real
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i

or personal, that constitutes or is derived, directly or indirectly, from gross proceeds 'traceable to

the commission of the offenses, pttrsuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(7).

Upon conviction of a violation of Title 18, Urlited States Code, Section 1956, as

alleged in tlnis Indictment, the defendantso convicted shall forfeit to the United States any

property, real or personal, involved in such öffense, and any property traceable to such property,
, 

'

pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1).

5. The property subject to forfeiture as a result of thè alleged offenses includes, but is

not limited to, a sum of at least $3,805,073, which represents the total nmotmt of funds involved

in or derived from the alleged offenses and may be sought as a forfeiture money judgment.

If any of the property subject to forfeiture, as a result of any act or omission of the

defendants:

cnnnot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party;

has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court;

has been substantially diminished in value; or

has been commingled with other property which cnnnot be divided without

difficulty,

the United States shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property under the provisions of Title

21, United States Code, Section 853û9.
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I

A11 pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and the procedtzres set
!

forth in Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, as incorporated by Title 28, United States Code,

Section 2461(c), and Title 18, UnitedStates Code, Sections 982(a)(1) and (a)(7) and the procedures

set forth in Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, as incorporated by Title 18, United States

Code, Section 982(b)(1).

A TRUE BILL

GRAND Y F REPERSON

/.<- .
JU ANTONIO O ZA EZ
ACTING UNITED S A T ORNEY

Josspu s. BEEM STERBOE ,R ACTIXG CHIEF
CRJMIXAL olvlslox, FRAIJb sEcrrlox
u.s. DEPARTM ENT o'F Ju srrlcs

ALLAY MEDIN ,A DEPUTY CHIEF
CRIM INAL DIVISION , FRAUD SECTION
U.s. DEPARTM ENT OF JUSTICE

(.f
PATRICK J. QUE NAN
TRIAL ATTORNEY
CRIM FNAL DIVISION , FRAUD SECTION
U.S. DEPART= NT OF JUSTICE
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UNITED STATESDISTRIG  CoIJRT
SOUTHERNDISTRIG  OFFLOIUDA

UM TED STATESOF AM EW CA

V.

JOHN MAMONE, et aI.,

Defendants/

CourtDivision:tselectone) New defendantts) I--I Yes I--I No
I--lMiami I--I Key West INFTL Numberof newdefendants
I'Z WPB F-IFTP Totalnumberofcounts

1. 1 have carefully considered the allegations of the indictment, the number of defendants, the ntlmber of proh ble
witnesses and the legal complexities of the Indictment/lnformation attachedhereto.

2. 1 nm aware that the information supplied on this statement will be relied upon by the Judges of this Court in
setting their calendars and scheduling criminal trials under the mandate of the Speedy Trial Act,

Title 28 U.S.C. Section 3161.

3. Interpreter: (Yes or No) NO

CASE NO.

CERTIFICATE OF TRIAL ATTORNEY.
Superseding Case Information:

List language and/or dialect
4. I'his case will take 5 days for the parties to try.

5. Please check appropriate category and type of offense listed below:

(Check only one) (Check only one)
I 0 t o 5 d ay s (Z P etty (71
11 6 to 10 days (q7I Minor (71
1II 11 to 20 days g71 Misdemeanor E1
IV 21 to 60 days EqI Felony Lz
V 61 days and over E7l
6. Has this case previously been filed in this District Cotlrt? (Yes orNo) No
If yes: Judge CaseNo.

(Attach copy of dispositive order)
Has a complaint been filed in this matter? (Yes or No) NO
lf yes: M agistrate Case No.

Related miscellaneous numbers:

Defendantts) in federal custody as of
Defendantts) in state custody as of
Rule 20 from the District of

ls this a potential death penalty case? (Yes or No) ' NO
Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office priorto
August 9, 2013 (Mag. Judge Alicia 0. Valle)? (Yes or No) No

8. Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Northern Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office priorto
August 8, 2014 (Mag. Judge Shaniek Maynard? (Yes or No) No
Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the U.S. Attorney's Office prior to
October 3, 2019 (Mag. Judge Jared Strauss)? (Yes or No) No

*penalty Sheetts) attached

v
l

' :

PATRICK . Q EENAN
DOJ Trial Attorney

Court ID No. A5502715

REV 3/19/21
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT CO URT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: JOHN M AM ONE

Case No:

Cotmt #: 1

Conspiracv to Commit Hea1th Care Fraud and W ire Fraud
14

SrM ax Penaltv: Ten (10) years' imprisonment

Cotmts #:

Title 18. United States Codes Section 1347

Health Care Fraud

frM ax Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment as to each colmt

Count #:

Title 18. United States Codes Sedion 371

Conspiracy to Defraud the United States and to Pay Hea1th Caré Kickbacks

*Max Penaltv: Five (5) vears' imprisonment '

Counts #: 7 - 10

Title 42. United States Code. Section 1320a-7b(b)(2)(A)

Pay'ment of Kickbacks in Colmection with a Federal Hea1th Care Proaram

*Max Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment as to each count

WRefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Nam e: JOHN M AM ONE

Case No:

Count #: 1 1

Title 18s United States Codee Sedion 1956(h)

Conspiracv to Commit M oney Latmdering

*M ax Penalw : Twentv (20) vears' impdsonment

Counts #: 13 - 15

Title 18m United States Code. Section 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)

h4oney Laundedna

WM ax Penaltv: Twentv (20) vears imprisonment as to each cotmt

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Defendant's Nam e:

PENALTY SHEET

JOH N ANTH ONY M A M ONE

Case No:

Count #: 1

Title 18, United States Code. Sedion 1349

Conspiracy to Com mit Health Care Fraud and W ire Fraud

frM ax Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment

Colmts #:

Title 18e United States Code. Section 1347

Hea1th Care Fraud

WM ax Penaltv: Ten (10) years' imnrisonment as to each cotmt

Cotmt #: 6

Title 18. United States Code. Section 371

Conspiracv to Defraud the United States and to Pav Health Care Kickbacks

*M ax Penalty: Ten (10) yeazs' imprisonment

Cotmts #: 7 - 10

Title 42. United States Code. Section 1320a-7b(b)(2)(A)

Payment of Kickbacks in Connection with a Federal Health Care Progrnm

''M ax Penalw : Ten (10) vears' imprisonment as to each colmt

*Refers only to possible term of incàrceration, does not include possible fines, restitution, '
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: JOHN ANTHONY M AM ONE

Case No:

Cotmt #:

Title 18n United States Code. Sedion 1956th1

Conspiracy to Comm it M oney Laundering

SrMax Penalty: Twenty (20) years' imprisonment
h

Cotmts #: 12 - 15

Title 18. United States Code. Section 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)

s4onev Laundedn:

SrM ax Penaltv: Twentv (20) years imnrisonment as to each colmt

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SH EET

Defendant's N am e: JOSEPH M AM ONE

Case N0:

' Count #:

Title 18. United States Code. Sedion 1349

Conspiracy to Coinmit Hea1th Care Fraud and W ire Fraud

WM ax Penaltv: Ten (10) years' imprisonment

Colmts #:

Title 18e United States Code. Section 1347

Health Care Fraud

*M ax Penalty: Ten (10) vears' imprisonment as to each cotmt

Cotmt #: 6

Title 18. United States Code. Section 371

Conspiracv to Defraud the United States and to Pay Hea1th Care Kickbacks

*Max Penaltv: Five (5) yem's' imprisonment

Colmts #; 7 - 10

Title 42. Urtited States Code. Sedion 1320a-7b(b1(21(A)

Paym ent of Kickbacks in Connection with a Federal Hea1th Care Progrnm

*Max Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment as to each count

WRefers only to possible term  of incarceration, does not include possible lines, restitution,
special assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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UM TED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTH ERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SH EET

Defendant's Nam e: JOSEPH M AM ONE

Case No:

Cotmt #:

Title 18n United States Code. Section 1956(h)

Conspiracv to Comm it M oney Launderinz

*M ax Penalty: Ten (10) years' imprisonment

Count #: 12

Title 18e United States Codes Section 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)

M oney Latmderina

#rM ax Penalty: Twentv (20) vears impdsonment

WRefers only to possible term of incarceration, does not include possible fines, restitution,
s'pecial assessm ents, parole term s, or forfeitures that m ay be applicable.
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